

1 **Accelerated Straw decomposition and Mitigated**
2 **methane emissions via Autumn puddling incorporation**
3 **Enhance Soil health and Yield stability in Cold-Region**
4 **rice systems of China**

5 Bing He ^{1,*}, Yonglin Si ², Chao Li ¹, Limin Wang ³

6
7 ¹ Jilin Agricultural Science and Technology University, Agricultural College, Jilin, Jilin, China

8 ² Jilin Agricultural University, Agricultural College, Changchun, Jilin, China

9 ³ Jilin City Meteorological Bureau, Jilin, Jilin, China

10 Corresponding Author:

11 Bing He ¹

12 No. 77, Hanlin Road, Economic and Technological Development Zone, Jilin, Jilin, 132101,
13 China

14 Email address: hb@jlnku.edu.cn

15

16

17

Abstract

To investigate the effects of rice straw incorporation methods on methane emissions, soil properties, and yield in cold rice-growing regions of China, a two-year field experiment (2022–2023) was conducted in paddy fields in central Jilin Province. Three treatments were compared: no straw return (CK), spring puddling with water for straw incorporation (T1), and autumn puddling with water for straw incorporation (T2). The results demonstrated that the T2 treatment significantly enhanced the straw decomposition rate compared to T1 by extending the decomposition period, resulting in a 2.93% increase in straw weight loss after incorporation and a reduction in concentrated methane emissions during summer. T2 caused a smaller decline in soil redox potential, thereby alleviating soil reduction stress. Compared to CK, T2 significantly increased soil nitrogen, phosphorus, and calcium levels and maintained higher root activity and stem numbers compared to T1. While the grain yield under T2 showed no significant difference from CK, the yield under T1 was significantly reduced by 12.7%. These findings suggest that autumn puddling with water for straw incorporation in cold rice regions of China accelerates straw decomposition, reduces peak methane emissions in summer, mitigates soil reduction stress, improves nutrient supply, and represents an effective strategy for sustainable straw management and yield stability.

Introduction

Jilin Province is a major rice-producing region in China, where both the cultivation area and yield have shown sustained growth in recent years. By 2023, the rice planting area in Jilin reached 828,800 hectares, with a total yield of 6.8206 million tons and an average yield of 8229.260 kg ha⁻¹ (Jilin 2025). However, the expansion of rice cultivation has brought about a significant challenge: the disposal of large quantities of rice straw (Alengebawy et al. 2023). Conventional straw disposal primarily involved open burning, but national environmental policy reforms have rendered this practice unviable (Li et al. 2022; Singh et al. 2021).

Alternative methods to open burning for rice straw disposal have been widely studied (Singh & Brar 2021). Among these, the most effective and convenient method is direct straw incorporation into the field (Li et al. 2018). This method not only enhances soil nutrient levels and improves the soil environment (Ninkuu et al. 2025), but also increases nitrogen content across various soil layers (Cui et al. 2022) and supplements potassium content, leading to a 5.0% increase in rice yield (Li et al. 2023a). Additionally, it reduces emissions of fine particulate matter, carbon dioxide, methane, and other pollutants associated with straw burning (Bhattacharyya et al. 2021; He et al. 2020).

However, direct straw incorporation also generates substantial methane emissions (Wu et al. 2024). In addition, the decomposition process after incorporation lowers soil redox potential, resulting in strongly reducing soil conditions (Liu et al. 2021). This affects rice root activity (Peng et al. 2024) and low-position tillering, ultimately reducing rice yield (Tian et al. 2022).

Commented [VL1]: Please standardize the units of measurement for consistency across the text.

Spring incorporation is also prone to causing concentrated methane emissions and more intense reduction stress (Zhang et al. 2023). On the other hand, autumn incorporation in China's cold regions often leads to incomplete decomposition of incorporated straw due to the prolonged low winter temperatures, thereby compromising the effectiveness of decomposition (He et al. 2024). Previous research has shown that continuous flooding can increase methane emissions by up to 90% (Sanchis et al. 2012). Additionally, water management during the winter fallow season can increase methane emissions by reducing the inhibition of acetotrophic methanogens (Zhang et al. 2013). Studies conducted in California, USA, have indicated that under straw incorporation, winter methane emissions from paddies maintained under flooded conditions accounted for approximately 50% of the annual emissions (Fitzgerald et al. 2000). Research in Jiangsu Province, China, also confirmed that methane emissions during the fallow season following straw incorporation ranged from 9.6% to 33.1% of the annual total (Zhang et al. 2011). However, few studies have examined the impact of this practice on rice agronomic traits and yield, and most existing research has focused on warmer southern regions (Martínez-Eixarch et al. 2018; Martínez-Eixarch et al. 2022; Vo et al. 2018). For the cold rice-growing areas of northern China, an important question arises: Can fields be immediately flooded and crushed straw plowed and incorporated through puddling after the autumn rice harvest? This approach could extend the straw decomposition period, potentially reducing concentrated methane emissions during the hot summer period while also mitigating high-intensity soil reduction stress, thereby achieving stable rice yields. To test this hypothesis, this study selected paddy fields in central Jilin Province, using a locally dominant rice variety as the test cultivar. It comparatively analyzed methane emissions, soil redox conditions, rice agronomic traits, and yield under different straw incorporation practices. The aim was to clarify the effects of autumn puddling with water for straw incorporation on methane emissions, soil properties, and rice yield in cold rice-growing regions of China. Ultimately, the study aimed to identify the most suitable rice straw incorporation method for these areas, providing theoretical support and practical guidance for local rice production.

Materials & Methods

Experimental Site and Cultivar

The experiment was conducted at the off-campus experimental station of Jilin Agricultural Science and Technology University in Yongji County, Jilin City, Jilin Province (N43°836', E126°113'; altitude 243 m). The station experiences a northern temperate continental monsoon climate, with an annual accumulated temperature of 2,790°C, an average annual precipitation of 690 mm, a frost-free period of approximately 130 days, and sunshine duration ranging from 2,500 to 2,900 hours. Three adjacent paddy fields with independent irrigation and drainage systems were selected, each approximately 1000 m² in area. According to the World Reference

Commented [VL2]: Two references have font encoding issues; please fix to match the journal's formatting

Commented [VL3]: The unit "m^{2u}" is incorrect for area measurement; it should be m².

93 Base for Soil Resources (Group 2014), the soil type of the experimental paddies was classified as
94 Clay Gleysols. The experiment was conducted over two years, from April 2022 to December
95 2023. The rice cultivar used was Jihong 9, a dominant variety in Jilin Province.

Commented [VL4]: The citation does not follow the required reference format; please revise for consistency with the journal's guidelines.

96 Experimental Design

97 Three treatments were established: Control (CK): No straw return. Rice straw was completely
98 removed from the field after harvest. Spring Incorporation (T1): Straw was incorporated via
99 puddling with water in the spring immediately before rice transplanting in the cultivation year
100 (conducted on May 25, 2022, and May 27, 2023). Autumn Incorporation (T2): Straw was
101 incorporated via puddling with water in the autumn immediately after rice harvest in the year
102 preceding cultivation (conducted on September 28, 2021, and September 29, 2022).

103 The straw incorporation amount for both T1 and T2 treatments was approximately 8,000 kg ha⁻¹.
104 Air-dried straw was chopped into 7-10 cm segments, evenly spread over the plots, and then
105 flooded to a water depth of 3-5 cm. A rotary tiller (Model 1JH-150, Mengcheng County Yutian
106 Machinery Co., Ltd., Bozhou, China) was used to incorporate the straw into the 5-20 cm soil
107 layer.

Commented [VL5]: The basis for selecting a straw incorporation rate of approximately 8,000 kg ha⁻¹ is not clearly justified in the manuscript. It is unclear whether this value was derived from actual field measurements, local farmer practices, or literature references?

108 Based on previous research (He et al. 2024), a compound fertilizer (N:P₂O₅:K₂O =
109 17:17:17) was applied at 650 kg ha⁻¹ as a basal dressing before transplanting. Topdressing with
110 urea (N ≥ 47%) was applied at 30 kg ha⁻¹ during the tillering stage and 20 kg ha⁻¹ during the
111 heading stage. The total nutrient inputs were 150 kg ha⁻¹ of N, 110 kg ha⁻¹ of P₂O₅, and 110 kg
112 ha⁻¹ of K₂O.

Commented [VL6]: Please use en dash (–) for numerical ranges and proper superscript negative exponents (e.g., ha⁻¹) for units throughout the manuscript.

113 Rice seedlings were transplanted on May 27, 2022, and May 29, 2023, at a density of 16.7 hills
114 m⁻², with 3-4 seedlings per hill. A water depth of 3-5 cm was maintained from transplanting until
115 approximately 30 days after heading. Fields were drained on September 13, 2022, and September
116 16, 2023. Pests, diseases, and weeds were strictly controlled throughout the experiment to
117 prevent biomass and yield losses.

118 Sampling and Measurements

119 Meteorological Data

120 Temperature and sunshine duration data during the experimental period were provided by the
121 Jilin City Meteorological Bureau.

122 Straw Weight Loss Rate and Breaking Force

123 The weight loss rate and breaking force of incorporated straw were measured using the nylon
124 mesh bag method (Yan et al. 2019) from April 27 to September 16, 2022. One kilogram of pre-
125 dried rice straw (7-10 cm in length) was placed into nylon mesh bags. Bags for T1 were buried at
126 a depth of 15-20 cm on September 28, 2021, and T2 on May 27, 2022. Bags were retrieved
127 monthly from April to September 2022 during the latter part of each month. Straw was rinsed to

remove soil particles, oven-dried at 75°C and weighed. The straw weight loss rate was calculated using the following formula.

$$\text{Straw weight loss rate (\%)} = \frac{SW_i - SW_f}{SW_i} \times 100$$

where SW_i is the initial straw weight and SW_f is the straw weight at different sampling times. Straw breaking force was measured using a plant stalk strength tester (Model YYD-1A, Zhejiang Top Cloud-agri Technology Co., Ltd., Hangzhou, China). Three replicates were conducted per treatment plot.

Rice Bleeding Sap Rate Measurement

The bleeding sap rate of rice was measured according to a previously described method (Ansari et al. 2004), during the early, mid, and late parts of each month from July 3 to September 25, 2022. Representative plants from each treatment plot were cut 20 cm above the soil surface. Pre-weighed absorbent cotton was placed over the cut stem, covered with polyethylene film, and secured with a rubber band. The cotton was collected and weighed after one hour. The number of stems on each cut plant was recorded. The bleeding sap rate per stem was calculated using the following formula.

$$\text{Bleeding sap rate per stem} = \frac{CW_f - CW_i}{SN}$$

where CW_i is the initial cotton weight, CW_f is the cotton weight after 1 hour, and SN is the number of stems.

Three replicates were conducted per treatment plot.

Methane Sampling and Measurement

Methane emission fluxes (CH_4) were measured using the static closed-chamber method (Ding et al. 2021) during the early, mid, and late parts of each month from May 27 (transplanting) to September 16, 2022. Before transplanting, stainless steel bases were installed in the sampling area, with two rice hills planted inside each base. A transparent polypropylene chamber (40 cm × 30 cm × 100 cm), equipped with a thermometer and a small fan, was placed over the base. Gas samples (100 ml) were collected at 0, 15, and 30 minutes between 9:00 and 11:00 AM on sampling days, ensuring no atmospheric exchange. Samples were stored in light-proof gas sampling bags and transported to the laboratory for analysis. Methane concentration was determined using a gas chromatograph (GC-2014, Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan). Methane emission fluxes were calculated according to a previously described method (Guan et al. 2024). Three replicates were conducted per treatment plot.

Commented [VL7]: Please provide information on the standard gas used for GC calibration, including its type and purity.

Soil Redox Potential Measurement

Soil redox potential (ORP) was measured at the same time as methane sampling using a soil ORP meter (Model TR-901, INESA, Shanghai, China) around the static chambers. Three replicates were conducted per treatment plot.

163 **Agronomic Trait Measurement**

164 Plant height, stem number per hill, and chlorophyll content (measured using a SPAD-502 PLUS
165 meter, Konica Minolta, Tokyo, Japan) were recorded for 15 consecutive hills in each treatment
166 plot approximately every 15 days from June 5 to September 20, 2022. Three replicates were
167 conducted per treatment plot.

Commented [VL8]: Please explain why agronomic traits were measured only in one season!

168 **Soil Sampling and Analysis**

169 Soil samples (0-20 cm depth) were collected from the experimental paddies after rice harvest in
170 autumn 2022 and 2023 using a five-point sampling method, with sampling points spaced 5-10 m
171 apart. Samples from each plot were thoroughly mixed to form a composite sample of
172 approximately 500 g. Visible impurities were removed, and the soil was air-dried and passed
173 through an 8 mm mesh sieve before analysis. Soil nutrients and chemical properties were
174 determined as follows: alkali-hydrolyzable nitrogen (N) by the Kjeldahl method (Bao 2000);
175 available phosphorus (P) by extraction with 0.5 M NaHCO₃ measured by molybdenum-antimony
176 colorimetry (Bao 2000); available potassium (K) by extraction with 1 M ammonium acetate
177 measured by flame photometry [30]; soil organic matter by the K₂Cr₂O₇-H₂SO₄ oxidation
178 method (Bao 2000); exchangeable calcium (Ca) and magnesium (Mg) by extraction with
179 ammonium acetate measured by atomic absorption spectrophotometry (Bao 2000). Three
180 replicates were conducted per treatment plot.

Commented [VL9]: Inconsistent citation style detected in 'flame photometry [30].

181 **Yield Determination**

182 Yield components were measured for each treatment plot on September 29, 2022, and September
183 28, 2023. Yield was calculated based on the number of panicles per square meter, number of
184 grains per panicle, thousand-grain weight, and seed-setting rate. Three replicates were conducted
185 per treatment plot.

186 **Statistical Analysis**

187 Experimental data were collated and initially processed using WPS software (Version 365,
188 Kingsoft Office Software, Co., Ltd., Zhuhai, China). Analysis of variance (ANOVA), correlation
189 analysis, and significance tests for differences among treatments, years, and treatment × year
190 interactions were performed using the standard least squares method in JMP software (Version
191 18.0 Pro, SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA). Differences between treatment means were assessed
192 using Tukey's HSD test at the $p < 0.05$ significance level. Figures were generated using Origin
193 software (Version 2025, OriginLab Corporation, Northampton, MA, USA).

194

195 Results

196 Climate Conditions

197 Figure 1 shows the changes in air temperature and sunshine duration during the experimental
198 period at 10-day intervals. Mean temperatures during most intervals in 2022 and 2023 were
199 generally higher than the 2018–2023 average (referred to as Normal). In 2022, temperature
200 fluctuations were more pronounced, with peak temperatures occurring in early July and late
201 September and exceeding the Normal by 1.22°C and 1.7°C, respectively. In 2023, temperatures
202 during most intervals remained consistently above the Normal average. Temperatures after the
203 heading stage in mid-August were significantly higher than Normal. Specifically, early April and
204 late October were 3.3°C and 2.4°C warmer than the corresponding Normal periods. The only
205 significantly lower-than-average temperature occurred in late April, which was 3.3°C below
206 Normal.

207 Total sunshine duration in 2022 was higher than Normal but exhibited greater overall
208 fluctuations, especially from late August onward. In contrast, total sunshine duration in 2023 was
209 lower than Normal, displaying a clear downward trend from early July to early August. In
210 particular, during early August, sunshine duration was only 17.3 hours, significantly lower than
211 Normal.

213 CH₄ and ORP

214 Figure 2 shows CH₄ and ORP during the experimental period in 2022. Significant negative
215 correlations were observed between CH₄ and ORP across all treatments, with correlation
216 coefficients of -0.819 for CK, -0.730 for T1, and -0.590 for T2. Significant differences in CH₄
217 were observed among treatments. CH₄ from CK remained relatively stable throughout the
218 experimental period, reaching a peak of 10.783 mg m⁻² h⁻¹ on August 3. Before August 3, CH₄
219 from CK were significantly lower than those from the other treatments. T1 emissions peaked at
220 34.767 mg m⁻² h⁻¹ on June 28. Moreover, from June 6 to July 15, CH₄ from T1 were significantly
221 higher than those from both CK and T2. T2 emissions reached the first peak of 16.840 mg m⁻² h⁻¹
222 on June 28. After a slight decline, a second peak of 16.403 mg m⁻² h⁻¹ occurred on July 27. The
223 second peak showed no significant difference from the T1 emission level (16.247 mg m⁻² h⁻¹) on
224 the same date but was significantly higher than CK.

225 ORP for all treatments exhibited a similar trend of initial decline followed by an increase during
226 the experimental period, with significant differences observed among treatments. In CK, ORP
227 declined continuously from May 27 to June 28. After a slight increase, it dropped again, reaching
228 a minimum value of -233.670 mV on August 14, which was 11 days after the CH₄ peak in CK.
229 From May 27 to July 15, ORP values in CK were significantly higher than those in T1 and T2.
230 ORP dynamics for T1 and T2 were similar in the early phase of the experiment. Both treatments
231 reached their minimum ORP values on July 3, five days after the first CH₄ peak occurred on June

28, with -298.33 mV for T1 and -245.67 mV for T2. Starting from July 3, the ORP of T1 was significantly lower than that of T2. However, the ORP of T2 showed a brief decline on August 14, 11 days after its second CH₄ peak. From then until September 16, no significant differences in ORP were observed between T1 and T2.

Straw Decomposition

Figure 3 presents the changes in straw weight loss rate and breaking force after incorporation under different treatments in 2022. Significant negative correlations were observed between straw weight loss rate and breaking force for all treatments, with correlation coefficients of -0.983 for T1 and -0.941 for T2. Straw weight loss rates differed significantly between T1 and T2, with T2 exhibiting a consistently higher rate.

The weight loss rate of T1 straw gradually increased from June 28 onward, showing substantial growth between June and July, reaching 38.700% by September 16. In contrast, T2 straw began losing weight as early as April 27 (9.333%), with the loss rate progressively increasing to 41.633% by September 16.

Breaking force also varied significantly between treatments, with T1 demonstrating substantially higher values than T2. The breaking force of T1 straw gradually decreased from May 27 onward, mirroring its weight loss pattern with a pronounced decline during June–July, reaching 94.000 N by September 16. In comparison, the breaking force of T2 started decreasing from April 27 and maintained a relatively consistent downward trend throughout the growing season, declining to 55.000 N (58.511% of T1) by September 16.

Agronomic Traits

Figure 4 illustrates the dynamics of bleeding sap rates under different treatments during the 2022 experimental period. Prior to July 27, no significant differences in bleeding sap rates were observed among treatments. After July 27, CK exhibited a progressively increasing trend, ultimately showing significantly higher values than both T1 and T2 until September 2. The bleeding sap rate of CK peaked at 0.311 g stem⁻¹ h⁻¹ on August 27. At that time, the values for T1 and T2 were 0.158 g stem⁻¹ h⁻¹ and 0.171 g stem⁻¹ h⁻¹, respectively, representing only 50.804% and 54.984% of the CK value.

Compared to T1, T2 exhibited greater fluctuation in bleeding sap rates. Although no significant differences were observed between T1 and T2 before August 27, T2 consistently maintained slightly higher values than T1. All treatments showed pronounced declines in bleeding sap rates after field drainage on September 13. Notably, T1 displayed a transient increase post-drainage, a trend not observed in T2.

Commented [VL10]: Please standardize the number of decimal places to one throughout the manuscript for consistency.

Figure 5 shows changes in plant height, stem number, and leaf color among different treatments during the 2022 experiment. No significant differences in plant height were observed between treatments. Plant height increased steadily throughout the growth period, with the rate of increase accelerating after June 22. Growth gradually slowed down after August 4, entering a plateau phase after September 4. On September 20, the final plant heights were 129.10 cm for CK, 129.37 cm for T1, and 125.33 cm for T2.

Stem number increased in all treatments beginning on June 5, with a rapid increase after June 22 and a peak on July 8. At this time, stem numbers were 546.090 stems m^{-2} for CK, 472.610 stems m^{-2} for T1, and 518.819 stems m^{-2} for T2. The stem number in CK was significantly higher than that of T1. Stem numbers gradually declined. However, except for July 22, the stem number in CK remained significantly higher than T1. On September 20, the final stem numbers were 371.291 stems m^{-2} for CK, 345.139 stems m^{-2} for T1, and 361.271 stems m^{-2} for T2.

The trend in leaf color changes was similar to that of stem number across treatments. Leaf color increased rapidly starting from June 22, peaked on July 8, and then gradually declined. On August 4, leaf color values were 31.533 SPAD for CK, 28.967 SPAD for T1, and 31.900 SPAD for T2. The leaf color of T2 was significantly higher than that of T1 at this time. On September 20, the final leaf color values were 22.233 SPAD for CK, 20.667 SPAD for T1, and 21.633 SPAD for T2. The leaf color of CK was significantly higher than that of T1.

Soil Properties

Figure 6 shows differences in soil properties among treatments during the 2022 and 2023 trials. No significant year-to-year variation was observed for any soil properties. Additionally, K, and organic matter content showed no significant differences between treatments. N under T2 was 175.7 $mg\ kg^{-1}$ in 2022 and 176.7 $mg\ kg^{-1}$ in 2023, while N levels under CK were 167.967 $mg\ kg^{-1}$ in 2022 and 164.9 $mg\ kg^{-1}$ in 2023. N was significantly higher under T2 than under CK, with increases of 4.604% and 7.156%, respectively. P under T2 was 26.9 $mg\ kg^{-1}$ in 2022, significantly higher than the 23.3 $mg\ kg^{-1}$ recorded under CK. Ca also showed significant differences among treatments in both 2022 and 2023. In 2022, Ca under T2 was 26.367 $cmol\ kg^{-1}$, significantly higher than the 25.533 $cmol\ kg^{-1}$ observed under CK. In 2023, Ca ranked from highest to lowest as follows: 26.7 $cmol\ kg^{-1}$ under T2, 26.233 $cmol\ kg^{-1}$ under T1, and 25.067 $cmol\ kg^{-1}$ under CK. In 2022, Mg content was 9.5 $cmol\ kg^{-1}$ under T2 and 9.267 $cmol\ kg^{-1}$ under T1, with T2 being significantly higher than T1.

Yield and Yield Components

Figure 7 shows the yield components and yield under different treatments during 2022 and 2023. Panicle number showed no significant differences among treatments or between years. However, the mean panicle numbers for 2022 and 2023 were 355.94 panicles m^{-2} for CK, 328.10 panicles

305 m⁻² for T1, and 340.35 panicles m⁻² for T2. The panicle number under CK was significantly
306 higher than that under T1.
307 In 2022, the number of grains per panicle was 116.8 for CK, 108.6 for T1, and 114.3 for T2.
308 Both CK and T2 had a significantly higher number of grains per panicle than T1. In 2023, the
309 corresponding values were 113.5 for CK, 108.6 for T1, and 110.4 for T2. CK had a significantly
310 higher number of grains per panicle than both T1 and T2. The mean number of grains per panicle
311 over the two years was 115.17 for CK, 108.6 for T1, and 112.33 for T2. Both CK and T2 had
312 significantly higher mean values than T1.
313 No significant differences were observed in seed setting rate or thousand-grain weight among
314 treatments. However, the mean seed setting rate across treatments was 93.227% in 2022 and
315 92.413% in 2023. The seed setting rate in 2022 was significantly higher than that in 2023.
316 The yields under CK were 9412.9 kg ha⁻¹ in 2022 and 8990.5 kg ha⁻¹ in 2023, both significantly
317 higher than those under T1 (8171.5 kg ha⁻¹ in 2022 and 7814.0 kg ha⁻¹ in 2023). The mean yield
318 over the two years was 9201.7 kg ha⁻¹ for CK, 7992.8 kg ha⁻¹ for T1, and 8622.9 kg ha⁻¹ for T2.
319 Significant differences in yield were observed among treatments.
320

321 **Discussion**

322 Methane Emissions and ORP

323 Compared to no straw return, rice straw incorporation can significantly increase methane
324 emissions (Hou et al. 2013). In this study, methane emissions showed significant differences
325 between treatments (Fig. 2). Previous research has shown that because methanogen activity is
326 temperature-dependent, methane emissions from ecosystems, including paddy fields,
327 significantly increase with seasonal temperature rise (Yvon-Durocher et al. 2014). Furthermore,
328 straw return leads to an earlier peak in methane emissions compared to treatments without straw
329 incorporation (Hu et al. 2016). The results of this study are consistent with these trends. T1 and
330 T2, which implemented straw return, exhibited substantial methane emissions during the warmer
331 months of June and July, with peak emissions occurring on June 28. In contrast, the peak
332 methane emission for CK, without straw return, occurred in early August when temperatures
333 were highest (Fig. 1a). This resulted in concentrated methane emissions during the early warm
334 season. The peak methane emission for T1 was 2.065 times that of T2 and 3.224 times that of
335 CK. Water management during the rice fallow period has also been shown to significantly
336 increase methane emissions (Sander et al. 2018). Concurrently, returned rice straw serves as a
337 substrate for methane production (Ye et al. 2015), and its degree of decomposition is closely
338 correlated with methane emissions (Contreras et al. 2012; Yuan et al. 2014). In this study, the
339 total methane emissions over the entire growth period were 62.077 mg m⁻² for CK, 183.007 mg
340 m⁻² for T1, and 123.897 mg m⁻² for T2. The total emissions from CK were approximately
341 33.921% of those from T1, while T2 emissions were approximately 67.701% of T1. This
342 difference occurred because T2 incorporated the straw using rotary tillage immediately after the

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

autumn harvest in 2021, whereas T1 incorporated straw in late May 2022. Temperatures remained above 0°C until mid-November 2021 and rose above 0°C again by late March 2022 (Fig. S1). Soil temperature after straw incorporation should be higher than ambient air temperature. Previous studies indicate that the minimum temperature for straw decomposition under natural conditions is approximately 7°C (Yan et al. 2019). Compared to T1, which incorporated straw in late May 2022, T2 extended the decomposition period after incorporation by about seven months. Based on previous estimates (Saptomo et al. 2004), the deep soil temperature remained above 7°C for about 50 days during this extended period, which greatly accelerated straw decomposition after incorporation. Previous research has also confirmed that in the Tohoku region of Japan, elevated soil temperature during the non-rice-growing season promoted rice straw decomposition and reduced methane emissions in the subsequent rice-growing season (Tang et al. 2016). In this study, straw weight loss under T2 began earlier, on April 27, and the straw weight loss rate throughout the growth period was significantly higher for T2 than for T1 (Fig. 3). A significant negative correlation was observed between straw weight loss rate and straw breaking force. The straw breaking force under T2 was consistently lower than that under T1 throughout the growth period. These findings collectively demonstrate that T2 accelerated straw decomposition by extending the decomposition period after straw incorporation.

For T1, following straw incorporation on May 25, both straw weight loss rate and breaking force increased rapidly during the warmer months of June and July as temperatures gradually rose. This also led to concentrated methane emissions from T1 during this period (Fig. 2). Between June 16 and July 27, methane emissions from T1 totaled 135.067 mg m^{-2} , accounting for 73.804% of T1's total methane emissions during the growth period. This amount was approximately 5.758 times greater than that from CK and 1.864 times greater than that from T2 during the same period. Consistent with previous research (Huang et al. 2005), a significant negative correlation between methane emissions and ORP was observed in this study. Previous studies have demonstrated that carbon input reduces ORP (Mattila 2024), and that methane emissions are closely linked to ORP, with straw incorporation accelerating the decline in redox potential (Minamikawa & Sakai 2006). Therefore, the concentrated methane emissions from T1 likely caused a substantial decrease in ORP during this period. The lowest ORP value observed for T1 was significantly lower than that of T2. The mean ORP values during the growth period were -148.222 mV for CK, -175.945 mV for T1, and -155.473 mV for T2. The soil under T1 exhibited stronger reducing conditions compared to the other treatments.

Commented [VL11]: $\text{mg m}^{-2}\text{h}^{-1}$

Soil Nutrients

Although numerous studies have reported that straw return increases total organic carbon content in soil (Jin et al. 2020; Nakajima et al. 2016; Wang et al. 2017), the results from this two-year experiment did not reflect this trend (Fig. 6d). Previous research has shown that total soil nitrogen content is significantly higher following autumn puddling and rotary tillage

incorporation compared to treatments with no straw return (Wang et al. 2023). In this study, N under T2 was significantly higher than that under CK in both 2022 and 2023 (Fig. 6a). Furthermore, other studies have shown that straw return can increase soil phosphorus content by 39.7% compared to no straw return (Jin et al. 2020). In this study, P and Ca levels under T2 in 2022 were also significantly higher than those under CK, while T1 did not show such an increase (Fig. 6b, e). As mentioned previously, this can be attributed to the fact that in the T2 treatment, irrigation was applied immediately following straw incorporation in the previous year. This allowed decomposition to begin earlier than in T1. By late April 2022, before transplanting, nearly one-tenth of the straw in T2 had already decomposed. Furthermore, on September 16, the weight loss rate in T2 was 2.933% higher than in T1 (Fig. 3). This enabled more nutrients from the decomposed T2 straw to be released into the soil, thereby increasing the soil nutrient content.

Agronomic Traits

A decrease in ORP increases anaerobic respiration in rice roots (Tolley et al. 1986). Waterlogged soil generates toxins at lower redox potentials, inhibiting plant growth [(Tokarz & Urban 2015), primarily through soil phytotoxins and other reductive byproducts that cause severe stress to plant roots (Pezeshki & DeLaune 2012). In this study, differences in ORP among treatments also affected sap exudation rate, an indicator of root activity, with significant differences observed across treatments (Fig. 4). The sap exudation rate in CK (no straw return) was significantly higher than those in T1 and T2. Research shows that rice root morphological and physiological traits are negatively correlated with methane emission flux (Chen et al. 2019). In this study, during June and July—the period of concentrated methane emissions and the lowest ORP values (Fig. 2)—the sap exudation rates across all treatments, including CK, remained at relatively low levels. Although sap exudation rates in T1 and T2 increased slightly 13–14 days after reaching their lowest ORP values, they remained significantly lower than those in CK. This suggests that the lower ORP associated with straw return imposed persistent stress on rice roots. Previous studies suggest that straw return treatments can increase rice plant height and stem number (Luo et al. 2024). However, this study found no significant differences in plant height among treatments (Fig. 5a). Additionally, following the peak in stem number on July 8, CK consistently exhibited significantly higher stem numbers than T1 except on July 22 (Fig. 5b). As mentioned earlier, stem number was affected by treatment-specific variations in ORP. T1 experienced stronger soil reducing conditions from July 3 to August 3 compared to CK and T2 (Fig. 2), leading to reduced formation of lower-position tillers (Gao et al. 2004), thereby decreasing the total stem number. In contrast, T2 maintained higher ORP than T1, particularly after July 27. Moreover, as previously noted, T2's enhanced straw decomposition (Fig. 3) facilitated greater nitrogen release into the soil, improving nutrient availability (Fig. 6a). As a result, although T2 experienced reductive stress (resulting in fewer stems than CK), the difference was not statistically significant. Owing to T2's higher sap exudation rate (Fig. 4) and

improved soil nutrient conditions (Fig. 6) by August 3, its leaf color was significantly higher than T1 at the heading stage on August 4 (Fig. 5c).

Yield and Yield Components

An increase in ORP promotes a higher panicle number in rice, thereby enhancing yield (Minamikawa & Sakai 2006). In this study, CK exhibited a significantly higher panicle number than T1 (Fig. 7a), consistent with CK's trend of greater stem numbers throughout the growth period (Fig. 5b). Research conducted in Jiangsu, China, has shown that rice straw return increases total nitrogen uptake, particularly during the panicle differentiation stage, promoting the development of larger panicles and potentially higher yield (Li et al. 2023b). However, as previously stated, the significant decrease in ORP under T1 induced pronounced reductive stress. This resulted in significantly higher leaf color for CK and T2 compared to T1 during the late growth stage, as well as a higher sap exudation rate for CK than T1 after heading in early August (Fig. 4). As a result, both CK and T2 had a significantly higher number of grains per panicle than T1 (Fig. 7b). The mean seed setting rate across treatments in 2023 was significantly lower than in 2022. This decline may be attributed to high temperatures beginning in mid-August 2023 (Fig. 1), causing high-temperature-induced sterility (Fahad et al. 2019) and reducing seed setting rate (Fig. 7c).

Although numerous studies have demonstrated that straw return can enhance rice yield (Hou et al. 2021; Li et al. 2023b; Wang et al. 2015), the T1 treatment in this study yielded significantly less than CK. While the yield under T2 was slightly lower than that of CK, no significant difference existed between them (Fig. 7e). The underlying reasons can be explained as follows: Different straw return treatments reduced ORP, impairing root activity and lower-position tillering capacity, thereby limiting panicle number formation and reducing yield. However, compared to T1, T2 extended the straw decomposition period, improving decomposition efficiency. This mitigated the adverse effects of soil reduction while enriching soil nutrients. As a result, T2 maintained higher leaf color than T1 during the late growth stage, supporting better grain formation per panicle and alleviating the extent of yield reduction.

Conclusions

A significant negative correlation was observed between CH₄ and ORP following straw return, with methane's impact on ORP exhibiting a temporal lag. Among treatments, the rapid decomposition of T1 straw during the high temperatures of summer triggered concentrated methane emissions, substantially reducing ORP and inducing soil reductive stress. This impaired tiller formation and root activity, ultimately reducing yield. In contrast, T2 extended the decomposition period, preventing concentrated methane emissions during the growth period and mitigating reductive stress induced by straw return. Additionally, enhanced decomposition in T2 facilitated the release of nutrients from straw, significantly increasing soil nutrient content and

457 ensuring adequate nutrient supply for late-stage rice growth. In summary, incorporating rice
458 straw through puddling and rotary tillage immediately after the autumn harvest effectively
459 extends decomposition time, promotes decomposition, reduces concentrated methane emissions,
460 alleviates soil reductive stress, and improves soil nutrients, thereby stabilizing rice yield. This
461 practice has the potential for integration into local carbon-neutral farming policies.
462

463 **Acknowledgements**

464 We thank Yongji County Jiuyuefeng Family Farm (Jilin, China) for providing all the rice
465 materials used in this study.
466

467 **References**

468 Alengebawy A, Ran Y, Ghimire N, Osman AI, and Ai P. 2023. Rice straw for energy and value-
469 added products in China: a review. *Environmental Chemistry Letters* 21:2729-2760.

470 Ansari TH, Yamamoto Y, Yoshida T, Sakagami K, and Miyazaki A. 2004. Relation between
471 bleeding rate during panicle formation stage and sink size in rice plant. *Soil Science and*
472 *Plant Nutrition* 50:57-66.

473 Bao S. 2000. Soil agrochemical analysis. China agriculture press Beijing.

474 Bhattacharyya P, Bisen J, Bhaduri D, Priyadarsini S, Munda S, Chakraborti M, Adak T,
475 Panneerselvam P, Mukherjee A, and Swain SL. 2021. Turn the wheel from waste to
476 wealth: economic and environmental gain of sustainable rice straw management practices
477 over field burning in reference to India. *Science of the Total Environment* 775:145896.

478 Chen Y, Li S, Zhang Y, Li T, Ge H, Xia S, Gu J, Zhang H, Lü B, and Wu X. 2019. Rice root
479 morphological and physiological traits interaction with rhizosphere soil and its effect on
480 methane emissions in paddy fields. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 129:191-200.

481 Contreras L, Schelle H, Sebrango C, and Pereda I. 2012. Methane potential and biodegradability
482 of rice straw, rice husk and rice residues from the drying process. *Water science and*
483 *technology* 65:1142-1149.

484 Cui S, Zhu X, and Cao G. 2022. Effects of years of rice straw return on soil nitrogen components
485 from rice–wheat cropped fields. *Agronomy* 12:1247.

486 Ding H, Jiang Y, and Cao C. 2021. Deep rice root systems reduce methane emissions in rice
487 paddies. *Plant and Soil* 468:337-352.

488 Fahad S, Adnan M, Hassan S, Saud S, Hussain S, Wu C, Wang D, Hakeem KR, Alharby HF,
 489 and Turan V. 2019. Rice responses and tolerance to high temperature. *Advances in rice*
 490 *research for abiotic stress tolerance*: Elsevier, 201-224.
 491 Fitzgerald G, Scow K, and Hill J. 2000. Fallow season straw and water management effects on
 492 methane emissions in California rice. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* 14:767-776.
 493 Gao S, Tanji KK, and Scardaci SC. 2004. Impact of rice straw incorporation on soil redox status
 494 and sulfide toxicity. *Agronomy Journal* 96:70-76.
 495 Group IW. 2014. World reference base for soil resources 2014. International soil classification
 496 system for naming soils and creating legends for soil maps. (No Title).
 497 Guan S, Qi Z, Li S, Du S, and Xu D. 2024. Effects of Rice Root Development and Rhizosphere
 498 Soil on Methane Emission in Paddy Fields. *Plants* 13:3223.
 499 He B, Li C, Yao L, Cui H, Tian Y, Sun X, Yu T, He J, and Wang S. 2024. Effects of dynamic
 500 nitrogen application on rice yield and quality under straw returning conditions.
 501 *Environmental Research* 243:117857.
 502 He G, Liu T, and Zhou M. 2020. Straw burning, PM_{2.5}, and death: Evidence from China.
 503 *Journal of Development Economics* 145:102468.
 504 Hou P, Li G, Wang S, Jin X, Yang Y, Chen X, Ding C, Liu Z, and Ding Y. 2013. Methane
 505 emissions from rice fields under continuous straw return in the middle-lower reaches of
 506 the Yangtze River. *Journal of Environmental Sciences* 25:1874-1881.
 507 Hou Y, Xu X, Kong L, Zhang L, and Wang L. 2021. The combination of straw return and
 508 appropriate K fertilizer amounts enhances both soil health and rice yield in Northeast
 509 China. *Agronomy Journal* 113:5424-5435.
 510 Hu N, Wang B, Gu Z, Tao B, Zhang Z, Hu S, Zhu L, and Meng Y. 2016. Effects of different
 511 straw returning modes on greenhouse gas emissions and crop yields in a rice–wheat
 512 rotation system. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment* 223:115-122.
 513 Huang G-H, Li X-Z, Hu Y-M, Shi Y, and Xiao D-N. 2005. Methane (CH₄) emission from a
 514 natural wetland of northern China. *Journal of Environmental Science and Health*
 515 40:1227-1238.
 516 Jilin Sbo. 2025. Jilin statistical yearbook 2024. Available at <http://tjj.jl.gov.cn/tjsj/tjnj/2024/>
 517 (accessed 6/3 2025).
 518 Jin Z, Shah T, Zhang L, Liu H, Peng S, and Nie L. 2020. Effect of straw returning on soil
 519 organic carbon in rice–wheat rotation system: A review. *Food and Energy Security*
 520 9:e200.
 521 Li D, Wang Y, Lu D, Chen X, Cui Z, Chen X, Lu J, Nie J, Wang H, and Zhou J. 2023a. Bio-
 522 straw resource recycling systems: agricultural productivity and green development.
 523 *Resources, Conservation and Recycling* 190:106844.
 524 Li H, Dai M, Dai S, and Dong X. 2018. Current status and environment impact of direct straw
 525 return in China’s cropland—A review. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety* 159:293-
 526 300.

- Li H, Miao Z, and Zhang B. 2022. Review and prospect of comprehensive straw utilization and government policy in China. *Chinese Journal of Population, Resources and Environment* 20:402-406.
- Li Z, Shen Y, Zhang W, Zhang H, Liu L, Wang Z, Gu J, and Yang J. 2023b. Effects of long-term straw returning on rice yield and soil properties and bacterial community in a rice-wheat rotation system. *Field Crops Research* 291:108800.
- Liu S, Wang D, Zhu C, and Zhou D. 2021. Effect of straw return on hydroxyl radical formation in paddy soil. *Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology* 106:211-217.
- Luo M, Liu Y, Li J, Gao T, Wu S, Wu L, Lai X, Xu H, Hu H, and Ma Y. 2024. Effects of Straw Returning and New Fertilizer Substitution on Rice Growth, Yield, and Soil Properties in the Chaohu Lake Region of China. *Plants* 13:444.
- Martínez-Eixarch M, Alcaraz C, Viñas M, Noguerol J, Aranda X, Prenafeta-Boldú FX, Saldaña-De la Vega JA, Català MdM, and Ibáñez C. 2018. Neglecting the fallow season can significantly underestimate annual methane emissions in Mediterranean rice fields. *PLoS one* 13:e0198081.
- Martínez-Eixarch M, Beltrán-Miralles M, Guéry S, and Alcaraz C. 2022. Extended methane mitigation capacity of a mid-season drainage beyond the rice growing season: a case in Spain. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* 194:648.
- Mattila TJ. 2024. Redox potential as a soil health indicator—how does it compare to microbial activity and soil structure? *Plant and Soil* 494:617-625.
- Minamikawa K, and Sakai N. 2006. The practical use of water management based on soil redox potential for decreasing methane emission from a paddy field in Japan. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment* 116:181-188.
- Nakajima M, Cheng W, Tang S, Hori Y, Yaginuma E, Hattori S, Hanayama S, Tawaraya K, and Xu X. 2016. Modeling aerobic decomposition of rice straw during the off-rice season in an Andisol paddy soil in a cold temperate region of Japan: Effects of soil temperature and moisture. *Soil Science and Plant Nutrition* 62:90-98.
- Ninkuu V, Liu Z, Qin A, Xie Y, Song X, and Sun X. 2025. Impact of straw returning on soil ecology and crop yield: A review. *Heliyon*.
- Peng X, Dong Q, Zhang C, Li P, Li B, Liu Z, and Yu C. 2024. Effects of Straw Return Rate on Soil Reducing Substances and Rice Growth under Different Soil Conditions. *Chinese Journal OF Rice Science* 38:198.
- Pezeshki S, and DeLaune R. 2012. Soil oxidation-reduction in wetlands and its impact on plant functioning. *Biology* 1:196-221.
- Sanchis E, Ferrer M, Torres AG, Cambra-López M, and Calvet S. 2012. Effect of water and straw management practices on methane emissions from rice fields: a review through a meta-analysis. *Environmental engineering science* 29:1053-1062.
- Sander BO, Samson M, Sanchez PB, Valencia KP, Demafelix EA, and Buresh RJ. 2018. Contribution of fallow periods between rice crops to seasonal GHG emissions: effect of water and tillage management. *Soil Science and Plant Nutrition* 64:200-209.

567 Saptomo SK, Nakano Y, Yuge K, and Haraguchi T. 2004. Observation and simulation of thermal
568 environment in a paddy field. *Paddy and Water Environment* 2:73-82.

569 Singh G, Gupta MK, Chaurasiya S, Sharma VS, and Pimenov DY. 2021. Rice straw burning: a
570 review on its global prevalence and the sustainable alternatives for its effective
571 mitigation. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* 28:32125-32155.

572 Singh L, and Brar BS. 2021. A review on rice straw management strategies. *Nat Environ Pollut*
573 *Technol* 20:1485-1493.

574 Tang S, Cheng W, Hu R, Guigue J, Kimani SM, Tawaraya K, and Xu X. 2016. Simulating the
575 effects of soil temperature and moisture in the off-rice season on rice straw
576 decomposition and subsequent CH₄ production during the growth season in a paddy soil.
577 *Biology and Fertility of Soils* 52:739-748.

578 Tian J, Li S, Xing Z, Cheng S, Liu Q, Zhou L, Liao P, Hu Y, Guo B, and Wei H. 2022. Seedling
579 establishment and yield performance of dry direct-seeded rice after wheat straw returning
580 coupled with early nitrogen application. *Agriculture* 12:565.

581 Tokarz E, and Urban D. 2015. Soil redox potential and its impact on microorganisms and plants
582 of wetlands. *Journal of Ecological Engineering* 16.

583 Tolley M, DeLaune R, and Patrick W. 1986. The effect of sediment redox potential and soil
584 acidity on nitrogen uptake, anaerobic root respiration, and growth of rice (*Oryza sativa*).
585 *Plant and Soil* 93:323-331.

586 Vo TBT, Wassmann R, Tirol-Padre A, Cao VP, MacDonald B, Espaldon MVO, and Sander BO.
587 2018. Methane emission from rice cultivation in different agro-ecological zones of the
588 Mekong river delta: seasonal patterns and emission factors for baseline water
589 management. *Soil Science and Plant Nutrition* 64:47-58.

590 Wang H-h, Jin M-j, Lu C-y, Shi L-l, Zhou X-w, Shen M-x, and Ji G-j. 2017. Effects of patterns
591 of returning straw to field on soil carbon pool and yield in rice-wheat double cropping
592 systems. *Journal of Natural Resources* 32:755-764.

593 Wang J, Wang X, Xu M, Feng G, Zhang W, and Lu Ca. 2015. Crop yield and soil organic matter
594 after long-term straw return to soil in China. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems*
595 102:371-381.

596 Wang X-t, Wan Z-l, Yang Z-z, and Wang G-j. 2023. Effects of rice straw returning to fields by
597 wet harrow in autumn on leaf-soil ecological stoichiometry of rice at different growth
598 stages.

599 Wu X, Zhang Y, Han Y, Zhang Y, Zhang Y, Cheng X, Zhong P, Yuan X, Zhang Y, and Li Z.
600 2024. Advances in methane emissions from agricultural sources: Part I. Accounting and
601 mitigation. *Journal of Environmental Sciences* 140:279-291.

602 Yan C, Yan S-S, Jia T-Y, Dong S-K, Ma C-M, and Gong Z-P. 2019. Decomposition
603 characteristics of rice straw returned to the soil in northeast China. *Nutrient Cycling in*
604 *Agroecosystems* 114:211-224.

- Ye R, Doane TA, Morris J, and Horwath WR. 2015. The effect of rice straw on the priming of soil organic matter and methane production in peat soils. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 81:98-107.
- Yuan Q, Pump J, and Conrad R. 2014. Straw application in paddy soil enhances methane production also from other carbon sources. *Biogeosciences* 11:237-246.
- Yvon-Durocher G, Allen AP, Bastviken D, Conrad R, Gudas C, St-Pierre A, Thanh-Duc N, and Del Giorgio PA. 2014. Methane fluxes show consistent temperature dependence across microbial to ecosystem scales. *Nature* 507:488-491.
- Zhang G, Ji Y, Ma J, Xu H, and Cai Z. 2011. Case study on effects of water management and rice straw incorporation in rice fields on production, oxidation, and emission of methane during fallow and following rice seasons. *Soil Research* 49:238-246.
- Zhang G, Liu G, Zhang Y, Ma J, Xu H, and Yagi K. 2013. Methanogenic pathway and fraction of CH₄ oxidized in paddy fields: Seasonal variation and effect of water management in winter fallow season. *PLoS one* 8:e73982.
- Zhang S, Ren T, Yang X, Zhou X, Li X, Cong R, and Lu J. 2023. Biochar return in the rice season and straw mulching in the oilseed rape season achieve high nitrogen fertilizer use efficiency and low greenhouse gas emissions in paddy-upland rotations. *European Journal of Agronomy* 148:126869.